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CorporATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

BRC Asia Limited ("BRC" or the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") are committed to achieving high standards 
of corporate governance and transparency practices. The Group believes that good corporate governance is imperative to 
the sustained growth and long-term success of the Group's business. 

This report outlines the Company's corporate governance processes and activities that were in place, with specific 
reference to the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the "Code") and the disclosure guide (the "Guide") developed by 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST").

The Group is generally in compliance with the principles and provisions as set out in the Code and the Guide. Where there 
are deviations from the Code, the Board of Directors (the "Board") has considered alternative practices adopted by the 
Group are sufficient to meet the underlying objectives of the Code. Appropriate explanations have been provided in the 
relevant sections where there are deviations. 

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board's Conduct of Affairs

The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with Management for the 
long-term success of the Group. 

The Company is headed by its effective Board comprising professionals from various disciplines and entrusted with the 
responsibility for the overall management of the Group. All Directors recognise that they have to discharge their duties and 
responsibilities in the best interests of the Company. Each of them is expected to act in good faith, be honest and diligent 
in exercising his/her independent judgement in overseeing the business and affairs of the Company.

Composition of the Board of Directors

The Board comprises eight Directors, four of whom are Independent Directors. The Board consists of:

Mr. Teo Ser Luck	 Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr. Seah Kiin Peng	 Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Xu Jiguo	 Executive Director and Chief Procurement Officer 
Mr. Zhang Xingwang	 Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek	 Executive Director (appointed on 14 February 2019)
Ms. Chang Pui Yook	 Independent Director 
Mr. He Jun 	 Independent Director 
Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe 	 Independent Director

The profile of each Board member is provided on pages 10 and 11 of the Annual Report.

Primary Functions of the Board

The primary functions of the Board are to:

•	 supervise and approve strategic direction of the Group;
•	 decide on policies covering corporate governance and business matters;
•	 review the business practices and risk management of the Group;
•	 review the management performance of the Group;
•	 review and approve interested person transactions;
•	 approve matters beyond the authority of the Key Executives Officers;
•	 ensure that there are policies and safeguards in the system of internal controls to preserve the integrity of assets;
•	 ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
•	 approve all communications with Shareholders;
•	 approve recommendations made by the Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees; and
•	 consider sustainability issues such as environmental and social factors as part of its strategic plans.

Disclosure of Interest

AII Directors are required to objectively discharge their duties and responsibilities in the best interests and benefit of the 
Company. Directors and Chief Executive Officer who are in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a transaction or 
proposed transaction, including those identified within the Code and provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the "Act") 
will declare the nature of their interests and not participate in any discussion and decision on the matter.
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Each Director is aware of the requirements in respect of his/her disclosure of interests in securities, disclosure of conflicts 
of interest in transactions involving the Company, prohibition on dealings in the Company's securities and restrictions on 
the disclosure of price-sensitive information.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the discharge of its oversight function, various Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, 
Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee, have been constituted to operate under the defined terms of 
reference. The terms of reference of the respective Board Committees are set out in this report. Each Committee, chaired 
by an Independent Director, has the delegated power to make decisions, execute actions or make recommendations within 
its terms of reference and applicable limits of authority. The Board is apprised of the decision made by the Committees. 
Draft notice of each Committee meeting will be circulated to the respective members in advance, to ensure each member 
has sufficient time to revert with the proposed agenda. The recommendations made by the respective Chairmen of the 
Board and Board Committees with regard to proceedings of meetings are deliberated and adopted if accepted. The terms 
of reference are reviewed and updated by the Board from time to time.

The Company has specified in its procedure manual that transactions beyond the threshold limits of Key Executive Officers 
be referred to the Board for approval. Material matters which require approval of the Board include new investments or 
increase in investments, material acquisitions or disposals of assets exceeding certain limits, share issues, all commitments 
to funding from banks and dividends payout. Approvals of release of financial results and financial statements are also 
material transactions specifically reserved for the Board's review and approval. Directors facing conflict of interest recuse 
themselves from discussions and decisions involving the issues of conflict.

Board's Conduct of Affairs

The Board meets regularly and when circumstances require, members of the Board exchange views outside the formal 
environment of Board meetings. Additional Board meetings will be convened when they are deemed necessary to address 
any significant issues that may arise in-between the scheduled meetings. Ad-hoc matters which require the Board's 
approval are dealt with through circular resolutions, when necessary.

The Management recognises the importance of circulating information on a timely basis to ensure that the Board has 
adequate time to review the materials to facilitate constructive and effective discussions during meetings. Company 
Secretaries, Ms. Lee Chun Fun (who is also the Chief Financial Officer) and Ms. Low Mei Wan, assist the Chairman in the 
preparation of notices, Board papers and minutes of Board proceedings. They are the primary channel of communication 
with SGX-ST and also responsible for assisting the Chairman to ensure Board procedures are followed. AII Directors may, 
where necessary, seek independent professional advice paid for by the Company.

The attendance of the Directors at the Board and Committee meetings for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 is 
as follows:

Name of Director Board of Directors Audit Committee Remuneration 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Mr. Teo Ser Luck
1

4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Seah Kiin Peng 4/4 - - -

Mr. Xu Jiguo 4/4 - - -

Mr. Zhang Xingwang 4/4 - - -

Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek
2

2/2 - - -

Ms. Chang Pui Yook
3

4/4 - 1/1 -

Mr. He Jun 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1

Notes:
1.	 Mr. Teo Ser Luck ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee on 7 August 2019.
2.	 Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek was appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 14 February 2019.
3.	 Ms. Chang Pui Yook was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on 7 August 2019.

During the financial year, the Company Secretaries provided updates to the Board on regulatory changes such as changes 
to the Act and the SGX Listing Manual. Briefing was also provided to the Board by the Company's external auditor on new 
accounting standards, including the adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International).
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To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is provided with reports as well as financial results on a regular 
basis. Board papers are also distributed in advance of Board meetings so that the Directors would have sufficient time to 
understand the matters which are to be discussed. The Directors are entitled to request from the Management and should 
be provided with additional information as needed to make informed decisions. The Directors have direct access to the 
Management and Company Secretaries at all times. In addition, the Directors and Board Committees, where necessary, 
may seek professional advice paid for by the Company.

The Independent Directors are always available to provide guidance to the Management on business issues and in areas 
which they specialise in.

Under the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretaries ensure good information flow within the Board and its 
committees and between the Management and Independent Directors, advising the Board all governance matters as 
well as facilitating orientation and assisting with professional development as and when required. The Directors may 
communicate directly with the Management and Company Secretaries on all matters whenever they deem necessary to 
ensure adherence to the Board procedures and relevant rules and regulations which are applicable to the Company. During 
the financial year, the Company Secretaries attended all Board and Board Committee meetings.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance 

The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to 
enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company. 

Composition and Balance

The Board consists of four Independent Directors and four Executive Directors. The Nominating Committee, with 
concurrence of the Board, is of the opinion that the current Board size and composition are considered appropriate 
for the Company's needs and nature of the operations, with an objective of achieving a good mix and diversity of 
skills, experience, gender and knowledge of the business to ensure that the Board will be able to make satisfactory and 
independent decisions regarding the affairs of the Company. Each Board member is encouraged to constantly keep 
abreast of developments in regulatory, legal and accounting frameworks that are of relevance to the Group through the 
participation in external training seminars and courses. The costs incurred for seminars and trainings shall be borne by  
the Company.

Regular briefings and updates on developments in accounting and governance standards are conducted by the external 
auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, and the internal auditor, Yang Lee & Associates. The Directors also attend other appropriate 
courses and seminars to keep abreast with changes in regulations, financial reporting standards, continuing listing 
obligations as well as industry-related matters.

The Nominating Committee reviews the existing Board combination regularly, to ensure the existing Board and Board 
Committees are appropriate. Although Non-Executive Directors of the Company do not make up a majority of the Board, 
the Nominating Committee is of the view that there is a strong and independent element on the Board thereby eliminating 
the risk of a particular group dominating the decision-making process. The Board ensures that the process of decision-
making by the Board is independent and is based on collective decision without any concentration of power. The Board 
has reviewed and decided that the Company does not need a Lead Independent Director for the time being.

The Independent Directors provide, amongst others, strategic guidance to the Company based on their professional 
knowledge, in particular, assisting to constructively develop proposals on strategies. They also contribute to the Board 
processes by monitoring and reviewing Management's performance. When dealing with challenging proposals or 
decisions, they bring independent judgement to bear on business activities and transactions involving conflict of interest 
and other complexities. 

The Independent Directors upon appointment were briefed on matters such as Board processes, corporate governance 
initiatives and industry development relating to the Company. To facilitate more effective checks on the Management, 
Independent Directors' meetings are held at least once a year and as and when needed. The Independent Directors have 
held one meeting without the presence of Management during the year.
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None of the Independent Directors has any relationship with the Company's related companies or its substantial 
Shareholders or its Officers that could interfere or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of the Director's 
independent business judgement with a view to the best interest of the Company. No individual or group of individuals 
dominates the Board's decision-making process.

The Company does not have a Board diversity policy but it consists of professionals from various disciplines. The Board 
conducts an annual review to assess if the existing attributes and core competencies of the Board are complementary and 
contributes to the efficacy of the Board. This enables the Board to maintain or enhance balance and diversity within the 
Board. 

The Board has reviewed and believes that its composition achieves a diversity of skills, knowledge, experience and gender, 
as further described as follows:

Number of Directors Proportion of Board

Core Competencies

Accounting/Finance/Legal/Corporate governance 5 62.5%

Industry/Customer based-knowledge or experience 6 75.0%

Strategic planning experience 6 75.0%

Gender

Male 7 87.5%

Female 1 12.5%

The Board members provide a range of core competencies that would provide effective directive for the Group.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, and no one 
individual has unfettered powers of decision-making. 

Mr. Teo Ser Luck, appointed as Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company on 28 November 2017, leads the 
Board and has a clear role that is distinct from that of the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Seah Kiin Peng. Mr. Seah was 
appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 1 March 2010. 

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate persons to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased 
accountability, and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making. The Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer are not immediate family members. 

As Chairman of the Board, Mr. Teo is responsible for, amongst others:

•	 leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role, scheduling meetings of the Board and setting 
the Board meeting agenda after consultation with the Management;

•	 exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between Management and  
the Board;

•	 inviting participation from advisors or Management to facilitate in-depth discussions, where necessary;
•	 calling for informal meetings with Management as and when needed; 
•	 assist in ensuring compliance with the Company's guidelines on corporate governance;
•	 ensuring effective communication with Shareholders;
•	 encouraging constructive relations between the Board and Management as well as between the Executive Directors 

and Independent Directors; 
•	 facilitating the effective contribution of Independent Directors; and
•	 promoting high standards of corporate governance.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing the Group's strategies and policies as well as the daily 
management and operations of the Group.

The Board has no dissenting view on the Chairman's statement to the Shareholders for the financial year under review.
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Principle 4: Board Membership

The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of Directors, taking into 
account the need for progressive renewal of the Board. 

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee consists of:

Mr. He Jun	 Chairman 
Mr. Teo Ser Luck	 Member 
Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe	 Member

The Nominating Committee is established for the purpose of ensuring that there is a formal and transparent process for all 
Board appointments, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board. AII members of the Nominating 
Committee are Independent Directors.

The Nominating Committee is governed by its adopted written terms of reference and its functions are to:

•	 recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating to (a) review of board succession plans for Directors (including 
Independent Directors), in particular, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors, taking into 
consideration, contribution and performance of each Director; (b) the development of a process for evaluation of the 
performance of the Board, the Board Committees and individual Directors; (c) the review of training and professional 
development programmes for the Board; and (d) making evaluations, assessments and recommendations with respect 
to the selection and appointment and re-appointment of Directors (including alternate Directors, if applicable);

•	 review whether the size of the Board is appropriate;
•	 review annually the composition of the Board to ensure that the Board has an appropriate balance of expertise, skills, 

attributes and abilities;
•	 review and determine annually, and as and when circumstances require, if a Director is independent;
•	 review where a Director has multiple Board representations, whether the Director is able to and has been adequately 

carrying out his/her duties as Director, taking into consideration the number of listed Company Board representations 
of the Directors and other principal commitments;

•	 recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election. The Constitution of the Company 
requires at least one-third of the Directors (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not 
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation every year and each Director to retire from the office at least 
once every three years;

•	 review and approve any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their employment;
•	 recommend to the Directors candidates for Key Executive Officer positions and candidates for directorship (including 

executive directorships);
•	 review succession plans for Key Executive Officers and recommend them to the Board for approval; and
•	 review that no individual member of the Board dominates the Board's decision-making process.

The process for the short-listing, selection and appointment of all new Directors is spearheaded by the Nominating 
Committee. In the selection and nomination of new Director, the Nominating Committee taps on the resources of the 
Directors' personal contacts for recommendation of potential candidates. External help (for example, open advertisement, 
executive search, consultants) may be used to source for potential candidates. The Nominating Committee meets with the 
short-listed potential candidate(s) to assess suitability and to ensure that the candidate(s) is/are aware of the expectation 
required before a decision is made for recommendation to the Board for approval.

AII Board appointments are made based on merits, in the context of skills, experience, core competencies, independence 
and other relevant factors, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board and the contribution that the 
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Upon appointment to the Board, each Director receives a formal letter which sets out the Directors' duties and 
obligations. AII new Directors are briefed on the Group's history, business activities, strategic direction, core values and 
corporate governance practices. Newly appointed Directors who do not have prior experience as Director of a listed 
Company will attend trainings pertaining to duties and obligations as well as in other relevant areas at the expense of  
the Company.
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The criteria of independence are based on the definition given in the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the Code. Under Provision 
2.1 of the Code, an "independent" Director is one who is independent in conduct, character and judgement, and has no 
relationship with the Company, its related Companies, its substantial Shareholders or its Officers that could interfere, or be 
reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director's independent business judgement in the best interests 
of the Company. 

The independence of Directors shall be reviewed by the Nominating Committee annually, in accordance with the  
SGX Listing Manual's definition of independence.

Mr. Teo Ser Luck, Mr. He Jun, Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe and Ms. Chang Pui Yook, the Independent Directors of the Company, 
have each confirmed that they and their immediate family members are not employed or have been employed by the 
Company or any of its related Companies for the current and any of the past three financial years and whose remuneration 
is determined by the Remuneration Committee. They have also confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the 
Company, its related companies, its substantial Shareholders or its Officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived 
to interfere, with the exercise of the Director's independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the 
Group. 

During the year, the Nominating Committee has reviewed the independence of all Independent Directors and is satisfied 
that there are no relationships which would deem any of them not to be independent. The Nominating Committee has 
considered the relationships identified by the Code and, additionally, that the Independent Directors are also independent 
from substantial Shareholders of the Company. No individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board's decision-
making process. As of the date of this report, there is no Independent Director who has served for an aggregate period of 
nine or more years from the date of his/her first appointment. 

The Constitution of the Company states that at least one-third of the Directors (or if their number is not a multiple of three, 
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office and all Directors shall retire from office at least 
once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and a Director retiring at a meeting shall retain 
office until the close of the meeting, whether adjourned or not.

The Board had accepted the Nominating Committee's recommendation to seek approval from the Shareholders at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to re-elect Mr. Teo Ser Luck, Mr. Xu Jiguo and Mr. Zhang Xingwang, who will be 
retiring according to Regulation 104 of the Constitution of the Company as well as Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek who will be 
retiring in accordance to Regulation 108 of the Constitution. In reviewing the re-nomination of the Board members who 
are each due for re-election as a Director of the Company, no member of the Board shall vote in respect of his/her own 
re-election.

When considering the re-nomination of Director for re-election, the Nominating Committee would take into account the 
time commitment by the Board members with multiple board representation. The Nominating Committee is satisfied that 
the Directors are able to carry out and have been carrying out their duties as a Director of the Company and sufficient time 
and attention have been given to the affairs of the Company. Therefore, it has decided not to fix a numerical limit on the 
number of directorships a Director can hold. The Board has experienced minimal competing time commitments among its 
members as Board meetings are planned and scheduled well in advance of the meeting dates. Every year, the Nominating 
Committee reviews the composition of the Board and the number of listed Company Board representations each Director 
holds. Where a Director holds a significant number of directorships and principal commitments, the Nominating Committee 
will assess his/her ability to diligently discharge his/her duties. 

Key information of the Directors as at the date of this report is set out below:

Name of Director Appointment Directorships in Other Listed Companies and Other 
Principal Commitments

Mr. Teo Ser Luck Independent Director and 
Non-Executive Chairman

•	 Elected Member of the Parliament of Singapore
•	 China Aviation Oil Corporation 

(Non-Executive and Independent Director)
•	 United Engineers Limited 

(Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director)
•	 Serial System Ltd. 

(Non-Executive Independent Deputy Chairman)
•	 Straco Corporation Ltd. 

(Non-Executive and Independent Director)
•	 Vicduo Food Tech Pte. Ltd. (Director)
•	 Nufin Data Pte. Ltd. (Chairman)
•	 Nufund Pte. Ltd. (Director)

Mr. Seah Kiin Peng Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer

-
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Name of Director Appointment Directorships in Other Listed Companies and Other 
Principal Commitments

Mr. Xu Jiguo Executive Director and  
Chief Procurement Officer

-

Mr. Zhang Xingwang Executive Director and Chief 
Operating Officer

•	 Fairborn Resource Pte. Ltd. (Director)

Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek Executive Director -
Ms. Chang Pui Yook Independent Director -
Mr. He Jun Independent Director •	 WongPartnership LLP (Partner) 

•	 Raffles Education Corporation Limited (Non-
Independent and Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe Independent Director •	 Libra Group Limited (Lead Independent and Non-
Executive Director) 

•	 BM Mobility Limited (Independent and Non-Executive 
Chairman)

Currently, there is no alternate Director appointed by the Directors.

The information required under Rule 720(6) and Appendix 7.4.1 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in respect of Directors 
seeking re-election at the Annual General Meeting is set out below:

Teo Ser Luck Xu Jiguo
Date of Appointment 28 November 2017 28 November 2017
Date of last re-appointment 26 January 2018 30 January 2019
Age 52 48
Country of principal residence Singapore Singapore
The Board's comments on this appointment (including 
rationale, selection criteria, and the search and nomination 
process)

The Board has considered, 
among others, the 
recommendation of the 
Nominating Committee 
and has reviewed and 
considered the contribution, 
performance, attendance, 
preparedness, participation 
and suitability of Mr. Teo 
for re-election as Director 
of the Company and 
concluded that Mr. Teo 
possesses the experience, 
expertise, knowledge and 
skills to contribute towards 
the core competencies of 
the Board.

The Board has considered, 
among others, the 
recommendation of the 
Nominating Committee 
and has reviewed and 
considered the contribution, 
performance, attendance, 
preparedness, participation 
and suitability of Mr. Xu for 
re-election as Director of the 
Company and concluded 
that Mr. Xu possesses the 
experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to 
contribute towards the core 
competencies of the Board.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of 
responsibility

Independent Director Executive Director

Mr. Xu is overall-in-charge 
for the procurement of steel 
raw materials for the Group. 
He also oversees the steel 
trading activities of the 
Group.

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member etc.) Independent Director and 
Chairman of the Board 

Executive Director and Chief 
Procurement Officer

Professional qualifications Bachelor of Accountancy, 
Nanyang Technological 
University, Singapore 

Master of Business 
Administration (Degree), 
University of South Australia, 
Australia 

Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) 
with any existing Director, existing executive Officer, the 
issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of 
any of its principal subsidiaries

No No 
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Teo Ser Luck Xu Jiguo
Conflict of Interest (including any competing business) No No 
Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 
10 years

•	 Senior Parliamentary 
Secretary, Ministry of 
Transport 

•	 Senior Parliamentary 
Secretary, Ministry of 
Community, Youth & 
Sports 

•	 Minister of State, Ministry 
of Trade & Industry 

•	 Mayor, North East District 
•	 Minister of State, Ministry 

of Manpower 
•	 Chairman of Singapore-

Shandong Bilateral 
Business Council 

•	 Vice-Chairman of 
Singapore-Jiangsu 
Bilateral Business Council

•	 Bright Point Pte. Ltd. 
(Deputy General Manager)

•	 Everwin Shipping Pte. Ltd. 
(Director)

•	 Gold Sky Shipping  
Pte. Ltd. (Director) 

•	 Luyang Hong Kong Group 
(Deputy General Manager)

•	 Rainbow Ace Shipping 
Pte. Ltd. (Director)

Undertaking submitted to the listed issuer in the form of 
Appendix 7.7 (Listing Rule 704(7)) or Appendix 7H (Catalist 
Rule 704(6))

Yes Yes

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries Nil Nil 
Other Principal Commitments* Including Directorships#

Notes:

* "Principal Commitments" has the same meaning as defined in the Code

# These fields are not applicable for announcements of appointments pursuant to Listing Rule 704 (9) or Catalist Rule 704 (8).
Past (for the last 5 years) •	 Minister of State, 

Ministry of Manpower 
•	 Mayor of North East 

District 
•	 Minister of State, Ministry 

of Trade and Industry

•	 Rainbow Ace Shipping 
Pte. Ltd.

•	 Everwin Shipping Pte. Ltd.

Present Listed companies: 
•	 BRC Asia Limited 

(Independent Director 
and Non-Executive 
Chairman) 

•	 China Aviation Oil 
Corporation 
(Non-Executive and 
Independent Director)

•	 Serial System Ltd. 
(Non-Executive and 
Independent Deputy 
Chairman)

•	 Straco Corporation Ltd. 
(Non-Executive and 
Independent Director)

•	 United Engineers Limited 
(Lead Independent and 
Non-Executive Director)

Others: 
•	 Elected Member of the 

Parliament of Singapore
•	 Adviser to the Institute 

of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants 

•	 Adviser to Singapore 
FinTech Association

Listed company: 
•	 BRC Asia Limited 

(Executive Director) 

Others:
•	 Anhui BRC & Ma Steel 

Weldmesh Co. Ltd.
•	 BRC International Pte. Ltd.
•	 BRC Projects Pte. Ltd.
•	 Gold Sky Shipping  

Pte. Ltd.
•	 Lee Metal Group Pte. Ltd.
•	 Lee Welded Mesh 

Singapore Pte. Ltd.
•	 LMG Realty Pte. Ltd.
•	 Maxlee Development  

Pte. Ltd.
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Teo Ser Luck Xu Jiguo
Present Others: 

•	 F4U Pte. Ltd. (Director)
•	 Helicap Pte. Ltd. 

(Director)
•	 Nufin Data Pte. Ltd. 

(Chairman)
•	 Nufund Pte. Ltd. 

(Director)
•	 Vicduo Food Tech Pte. 

Ltd. (Director)
Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of Director, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer, General Manager or other Officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is "yes", full details must 
be given.
(a) 	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application 

or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction 
was filed against him or against a partnership of which 
he was a partner at the time when he was a partner or at 
any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a 
partner?

No No

(b) 	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application 
or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction was filed 
against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he 
was a Director or an equivalent person or a key executive, 
at the time when he was a Director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive of that entity or at any time 
within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a Director or 
an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for 
the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that 
entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, 
on the ground of insolvency?

No No

(c) 	Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him? No No
(d) 	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in 

Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty 
which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been 
the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for 
such purpose?

No No

(e) 	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been 
the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for 
such breach?

No No

(f) 	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment 
has been entered against him in any civil proceedings in 
Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of 
fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he 
has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including 
any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) 
involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part?

No No

(g) 	Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or 
elsewhere of any offence in connection with the formation 
or management of any entity or business trust?

No No
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Teo Ser Luck Xu Jiguo
(h) 	Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a 

Director or an equivalent person of any entity (including 
the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly 
or indirectly in the management of any entity or business 
trust?

No No

(i) 	 Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, 
judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental 
body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from 
engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

No No

(j) 	Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned 
with the management or conduct, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, of the affairs of:
i. 	 any corporation which has been investigated for a 

breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing 
corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

No No

ii. 	 any entity (not being a corporation) which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing such entities in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

No No

iii. 	 any business trust which has been investigated for a 
breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing 
business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or 

No No

iv. 	 any entity or business trust which has been investigated 
for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures industry in 
Singapore or elsewhere in connection with any matter 
occurring or arising during that period when he was so 
concerned with the entity or business trust?

No No

(k)	Whether he has been the subject of any current or past 
investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has been 
reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, 
exchange, professional body or government agency, 
whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

No No

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only
Any prior experience as a Director of a listed company? N.A. N.A.
If yes, please provide details of prior experience. N.A. N.A.
If no, please state if the Director has attended or will be 
attending training on the roles and responsibilities of a 
Director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange. 

Please provide details of relevant experience and the 
nominating committee's reasons for not requiring the 
Director to undergo training as prescribed by the Exchange 
(if applicable).

N.A. N.A.

Zhang Xingwang Darrell Lim Chee Lek
Date of Appointment 5 December 2017 14 February 2019
Date of last re-appointment 26 January 2018 N.A.
Age 46 42
Country of principal residence Singapore Singapore
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Zhang Xingwang Darrell Lim Chee Lek
The Board's comments on this appointment (including 
rationale, selection criteria, and the search and nomination 
process)

The Board has considered, 
among others, the 
recommendation of the 
Nominating Committee 
and has reviewed and 
considered the contribution, 
performance, attendance, 
preparedness, participation 
and suitability of Mr. Zhang 
for re-election as Director 
of the Company and 
concluded that Mr. Zhang 
possesses the experience, 
expertise, knowledge and 
skills to contribute towards 
the core competencies of 
the Board. 

The Board has considered, 
among others, the 
recommendation of the 
Nominating Committee 
and has reviewed and 
considered the contribution, 
performance, attendance, 
preparedness, participation 
and suitability of Mr. Lim for 
re-election as Director of the 
Company and concluded 
that Mr. Lim possesses 
the experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to 
contribute towards the core 
competencies of the Board.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of 
responsibility

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang is responsible for 
the Group's manufacturing 
operations in Singapore  
and Malaysia.

Executive Director

Mr. Lim is responsible for the 
corporate and capital market 
strategies of the Group. 

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member etc.) Executive Director and Chief 
Operating Officer

Executive Director 

Professional qualifications •	 Bachelor of Mineral 
Engineering, Central 
South University, China

•	 Master of Business 
Administration (Degree), 
Wright State University, 
USA 

Master of Business 
Administration, University of 
Oxford, England 

Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) 
with any existing Director, existing executive Officer, the issuer 
and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of 
its principal subsidiaries

No No 

Conflict of Interest (including any competing business) No No 

Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 
10 years

•	 Fairborn Resource  
Pte. Ltd. (Director)

•	 Guangdong Guangxin 
Mining Resources Group 
Co., Ltd (Vice General 
Manager)

•	 International Economics 
& Trading Corp., Wugang 
Group (Raw Material 
Department Director) 

•	 Singapore Exchange 
Limited (Head of 
Corporate Coverage)

•	 Singapore Exchange 
Limited (Head of Investor 
Relations)

•	 Singapore Exchange 
Limited (Equities Product 
Manager)

•	 Singapore Exchange 
Limited (Corporate 
Strategist)

Undertaking submitted to the listed issuer in the form of 
Appendix 7.7 (Listing Rule 704(7)) or Appendix 7H (Catalist 
Rule 704(6))

Yes Yes

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries Nil Nil
Other Principal Commitments* Including Directorships#

Notes:

* "Principal Commitments" has the same meaning as defined in the Code

# These fields are not applicable for announcements of appointments pursuant to Listing Rule 704 (9) or Catalist Rule 704 (8).
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Zhang Xingwang Darrell Lim Chee Lek
Past (for the last 5 years) Nil Nil
Present Listed company: 

•	 BRC Asia Limited 
(Executive Director) 

Others:
•	 BRC International Pte. Ltd.
•	 BRC Projects Pte. Ltd.
•	 Fairborn Resources  

Pte. Ltd. 
•	 Lee Metal Group Pte. Ltd.
•	 Lee Welded Mesh 

Singapore Pte. Ltd.
•	 LMG Realty Pte. Ltd.

Listed company: 
•	 BRC Asia Limited 

(Executive Director) 

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of Director, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer, General Manager or other Officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is "yes", full details must 
be given.
(a)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application 

or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction 
was filed against him or against a partnership of which 
he was a partner at the time when he was a partner or at 
any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a 
partner?

No No

(b) 	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application 
or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction was filed 
against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he 
was a Director or an equivalent person or a key executive, 
at the time when he was a Director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive of that entity or at any time 
within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a Director or 
an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for 
the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that 
entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, 
on the ground of insolvency?

No No

(c) 	Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him? No No
(d) 	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in 

Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty 
which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been 
the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for 
such purpose?

No No

(e)	 Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been 
the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for 
such breach?

No No

(f)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment 
has been entered against him in any civil proceedings in 
Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of 
fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he 
has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including 
any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) 
involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part?

No No

(g)	Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or 
elsewhere of any offence in connection with the formation 
or management of any entity or business trust?

No No
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Zhang Xingwang Darrell Lim Chee Lek
(h)	Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a 

Director or an equivalent person of any entity (including 
the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly 
or indirectly in the management of any entity or business 
trust?

No No

(i)	 Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, 
judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental 
body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from 
engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

No No

(j)	 Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned 
with the management or conduct, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, of the affairs of:
i. 	 any corporation which has been investigated for a 

breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing 
corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

No No

ii. 	 any entity (not being a corporation) which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing such entities in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

No No

iii. 	 any business trust which has been investigated for a 
breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing 
business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or 

No No

iv. 	 any entity or business trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or futures 
industry in Singapore or elsewhere in connection with 
any matter occurring or arising during that period 
when he was so concerned with the entity or business 
trust?

No No

(k) 	Whether he has been the subject of any current or past 
investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has been 
reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, 
exchange, professional body or government agency, 
whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

No No

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only
Any prior experience as a Director of a listed company? N.A. N.A.
If yes, please provide details of prior experience. N.A. N.A.
If no, please state if the Director has attended or will be 
attending training on the roles and responsibilities of a 
Director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange. 

Please provide details of relevant experience and the 
nominating committee's reasons for not requiring the 
Director to undergo training as prescribed by the Exchange 
(if applicable).

N.A. N.A.

Principle 5: Board Performance

The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of its Board 
Committees and individual directors.

The Company has in place a system to assess the Board's performance as a whole. With the recommendation of the 
Nominating Committee, the Board uses objective performance criteria to evaluate the Board's performance. To-date, no 
external facilitator has been engaged for the purposes of Board assessment. 

The Nominating Committee has determined that given the background, expertise, level of participation and contribution 
made by respective Directors, it would not be necessary for Directors to perform self-evaluation assessments. 
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On an annual basis, the Nominating Committee in consultation with the Chairman of the Board, will review and evaluate 
the performance of the Board as a whole. The qualitative criteria used to evaluate the overall Board performance includes 
the composition of the Board, information flow to the Board, Board procedures, corporate strategy and planning, risk 
management and accountability as well as matters concerning Key Executive Officers and standard conduct of its Board 
members. The Nominating Committee will evaluate the process for performance evaluation review and its effectiveness 
from time to time. The Chairman of the Board will act on the results of the performance evaluations and, in consultation 
with the Nominating Committee, propose, where appropriate, new members to be appointed to the Board or seek the 
resignation of existing members.

The Board has taken the view that the recommendations under the Code to include financial indicators as part of the 
performance criteria for Board evaluation is not appropriate as it is more of a measurement of Management's performance 
and therefore, less applicable to the whole Board.

The Nominating Committee met in November 2019 and discussed amongst others, the Board's performance, independence 
of the Independent Directors and re-election of Directors who will be retiring at the next annual general meeting. AII 
committee members present at the meeting participated in the discussion. No significant issues were identified from the 
evaluation of the Board's performance for the financial year under review.

Each member concerned abstained from voting on the resolution in respect of his/her re-nomination as a Director.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 6: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on Director and executive remuneration, 
and for fixing the remuneration packages of Individual Directors and Key Executive Officers. No Director is involved 
in deciding his/her own remuneration. 

Principle 7: Level of Mix of Remuneration

The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and Key Executive Officers are appropriate and proportionate 
to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the 
Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, regulated by a set of written terms of reference, consists of four members who are all 
Independent Directors. 

The members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Mr. Teo Ser Luck	 Chairman 
Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe	 Member 
Mr. He Jun	 Member 
Ms. Chang Pui Yook	 Member

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to:
•	 recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and Key Executive Officers of the Group, 

including Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent);
•	 determine specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director including the Chief Executive Officer  

(or equivalent);
•	 review all aspects of remuneration of employees (including, among others, employees who are related to the Directors 

and relatives of the Directors and controlling Shareholders), including Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses 
and other benefits-in-kind;

•	 review and ensure that the remuneration of Independent Directors is appropriate to the level of contribution by them 
taking into account factors such as effort and time spent and responsibilities of the Directors;

•	 recommend the employees' share option schemes or any long-term incentive scheme, which may be set up from time 
to time and to do all acts necessary in connection therewith; and

•	 review the Company's obligation arising in the event of termination of the Executive Directors and Key Executive 
Officers' contract of services to ensure that such contract of services contain fair and reasonable clauses which are 
not overly generous.

The Remuneration Committee's recommendations are made in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer and Executive 
Directors and submitted for endorsement by the Board.
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In determining the remuneration system for the Key Executive Officers, the Remuneration Committee may seek advice 
from human resource consultants and senior practitioners in order to obtain comparable information on the market and 
the industry. The annual review covers all aspects of remuneration including salaries, fees, allowances, bonuses, options 
and benefits-in-kind, taking into consideration the long-term interests of the Group. The Remuneration Committee will 
also take into account the performance of the Group as well as that of the Directors and Key Executive Officers, aligning 
their interests with those of Shareholders and linking rewards to corporate and individual performance as well as industry 
benchmarks. It ensures that remuneration package is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors and  
Key Executive Officers to provide good stewardship of the Group and successfully manage the Group for the long term. 
The review of remuneration packages takes into consideration the financial and commercial health, business needs and 
long-term interest of the Group. Performance-related remuneration is aligned with the interests of Shareholders and other 
Stakeholders and promotes the long-term success of the Group.

The remuneration of the Independent Directors is in the form of a fixed fee after taking into consideration factors such 
as effort, time spent and responsibilities of the Directors. Independent Directors' fees are subject to the Shareholders' 
approval at the annual general meeting.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee met once, discussing various remuneration matters and recording its 
decision by way of minutes and circular resolutions. The Committee members present at the meeting were involved in the 
deliberations. No Director was involved in the fixing of his/her own remuneration. No external remuneration consultants 
were appointed for the financial year under review.

Principle 8: Disclosure on Remuneration

The Company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedures for setting 
remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation. 

The remuneration package of Executive Directors and Key Executive Officers consists of:

Basic Salary
Basic salary is determined based on the market value of the job. Merit increments, if any, are added to the basic salary. In 
line with the Singapore government's recommendations, the Company has designated a portion of the basic salary as a 
monthly variable component for certain employees, including Key Executive Officers.

Fees
The Non-Executive and Independent Directors are entitled to Directors' fees. The level of fees is reviewed for reasonableness 
taking into account the size of the Company, level of contribution and the additional duties and responsibilities of the 
Directors.

Bonus
The Executive Directors and selected Key Executive Officers are entitled to a bonus which is determined by the Company's 
performance. The Board, as recommended by the Remuneration Committee, approves any bonuses paid to the Executive 
Directors and selected Key Executive Officers.

Benefits-in-kind
Customary benefits-in-kind consistent with market practices are given to Executive Directors and Key Executive Officers.

Employee Share Option Scheme
The Company does not have an Employee Share Option Scheme in place.

Given the competitive environment the Company is operating in, the Company will not disclose amounts and the 
breakdown of each individual Director as the Company believes that disclosure may be prejudicial to its business interests. 
The Company believes that disclosing remuneration breakdown in percentage terms paid to the Directors provide sufficient 
overview of the remuneration of Directors.

The remuneration (in percentage terms) of the Directors is set out below:

Name of Director Salary
%

Bonus
%

Fees1

%
Benefits-in-kind2

%
Total 

%

Above S$250,000 
Mr. Seah Kiin Peng 37 53 - 10 100
Mr. Xu Jiguo 32 57 - 11 100
Mr. Zhang Xingwang 36 54 - 10 100
Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek3 57 22 - 21 100
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Name of Director Salary
%

Bonus
%

Fees1

%
Benefits-in-kind2

%
Total 

%

Up to S$250,000 
Mr. Teo Ser Luck - - 100 - 100
Ms. Chang Pui Yook - - 100 - 100
Mr. He Jun - - 100 - 100
Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe - - 100 - 100

Notes:
1.	 The fees have been approved by Shareholders at the last Annual General Meeting held on 30 January 2019.
2.	 Includes transport allowances, contributions to Central Provident Fund and other benefits-in-kind.
3.	 Mr. Darrell Lim Chee Lek was appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 14 February 2019.

Key Executive Officers (Top 5)

Regarding the Code's recommendation to fully disclose the remuneration of at least the top 5 Key Executive Officers 
who are not Directors or Chief Executive Officer, the Company does not believe it to be in its best interests to disclose 
the identity and remuneration of its top 5 Key Executive Officers, as having considered the highly competitive human 
resources environment for personnel with the requisite knowledge, expertise and experience in the Company's business 
activities, such disclosure may give rise to talent retention issues and would cause negative impact to the Company if 
experienced and senior members of the Management team are poached.

Having considered several factors, the Group is of the view that in order to maintain confidentiality of remuneration 
matters, remuneration of the top 5 Key Executive Officers in the bands of S$250,000 breakdown (in percentage or dollar 
terms) as well as the aggregate total remuneration paid will not be disclosed.

Remuneration of Employees Related to Directors 

There is no employee related to a Director or the Chief Executive Officer or a substantial shareholder of the Company 
whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 in the Company's employment for the financial year ended 30 September 2019.

For the financial year under review, there were no terminations, retirements or post-employment benefits granted to the 
Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and Key Executive Officers.

Where appropriate, the Remuneration Committee reviews the service contracts of the Company's Chief Executive Officer 
and the Executive Directors.

There is no contractual provision under the present remuneration structure that allows the Company to reclaim variable 
incentive components of remuneration from the Chief Executive Officer, Executive Directors and Key Executive Officers. 
However, in alignment with the current regulatory standards, the variable incentives of the Chief Executive Officer, Executive 
Directors and Key Executive Officers may be clawed back in the event of exceptional circumstances of misstatement of 
financial results or of misconduct resulting in financial or other losses to the Company.

The Company's compensation framework comprises fixed salary and short-term incentives. The Company subscribes to 
linking the executive remuneration to corporate and individual performance, based on an annual appraisal of employees 
and using indicators such as core values, competencies, key result areas, performance rating and potential of the employees.

Principle 9: Risk Management and Internal Controls 

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that management maintains a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the overall risk governance, risk management and internal control framework of the Group 
and is fully aware of the need to put in place a system of internal controls within the Group to safeguard shareholders' 
interest. Management also reviews the system of internal controls regularly in order to ensure that sufficient checks and 
balances exist within the system to safeguard the Group's assets. The Audit Committee ensures that these controls are 
effective by engaging an external consultant as the internal auditor. The internal auditor works within the scope of an audit 
plan, which has been approved by the Audit Committee, to review and test the adequacy, effectiveness and independence 
of the internal controls of the Group. The external independent auditors will, in the course of the external audit, conduct a 
review of certain internal control procedures relevant to the preparation of financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. The roles of risk management have been 
delegated to the Audit Committee.
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The Board approves the key risk management policies and ensures a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls and monitors performance against them. In addition to determining the approach to risk governance, the Board 
sets and instils the right risk focused culture throughout the Group for effective risk governance.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy of the Group's internal controls framework in relation to financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology controls as well as risk management systems of the Group. The Board, with the 
concurrence of the Audit Committee, is of the view that the Group's internal controls addressing financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology risk as well as the Group's risk management systems are effective and adequate 
as at 30 September 2019. The Board and Audit Committee did not identify any major concern on the Group's internal 
controls or risk management systems for the financial year under review. 

The system of internal controls provides reasonable assurance against material financial misstatements or loss  
and includes the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial 
information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulation and best practices and the identification and management 
of business risks.

The Board acknowledges that no system of internal controls can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of 
material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

The Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that the financial records 
as at 30 September 2019 have been properly maintained and the financial statements for the financial year under review 
give a true and fair view of the Group's operations and finances. The Board has also received assurance from the Chief 
Executive Officer and Key Executive Officers that the Group's risk management and internal control systems are adequate 
and effective.

Internal Audit

As the size of the Group cannot support a full-time internal audit team and also for cost reasons, the Management has, 
with approval from the Audit Committee, outsourced its internal audit function to an independent professional service 
firm, Yang Lee & Associates ("YLA"). YLA will report directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and has unrestricted 
access to the Audit Committee as well as the Company's documents, records, properties and personnel that are relevant 
to their work. The Company's engagement with YLA stipulates that its work shall be guided by the International Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing Issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors. 

The Audit Committee will, at least annually, review the adequacy, effectiveness and independence of the internal audit 
function. During the financial year under review, internal audit reviews were conducted on the operations of two subsidiaries 
within the Group.

Based on a review on the internal audit function and activities performed, the Audit Committee is of the view that the 
internal auditor is independent, effective, qualified and adequately resourced. 

Principle 10: Audit Committee

The Board has an Audit Committee which discharges its duties objectively. 

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee members of the Committee are:

Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe	 Chairman 
Mr. He Jun	 Member 
Ms. Chang Pui Yook	 Member (appointed on 7 August 2019)

On 7 August 2019, Mr. Teo Ser Luck ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee and Ms. Chang Pui Yook was appointed 
as the new member. All the members of the committee are Independent Directors. There is a good mix of expertise among 
the members who can handle financial, legal as well as commercial issues relating to the Company's business. 

There were four Audit Committee meetings held during the year. In the meetings dealing with the announcement of the 
Group's results, all other Directors and the Chief Financial Officer were also present.
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The Audit Committee has written terms of reference and its key functions are to:

•	 review with the Company's external auditor their audit plan, their evaluation of the system of internal accounting 
controls in the course of the external audit, their letter to the Management and the Management's response and 
results of the Company's audit conducted by internal and external auditors; 

•	 review the reports of the Company's external auditor as well as the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditor;

•	 review the co-operation given by the Company's Officers to the external auditor;
•	 review and discuss with the external auditor any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any 

relevant laws, rules and regulations which has or is likely to have a material adverse impact on the Group's operating 
results or financial position and the Management's response;

•	 make recommendations to the Board on the proposal to the Shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment and 
removal of external auditors and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

•	 review the quarterly announcements and annual financial statements, focusing in particular on changes in accounting 
policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, compliance with accounting 
standards and compliance with the SGX-ST Listing Manual and any other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements;

•	 review the significant reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure integrity of the financial statements of the 
Group and any announcements relating to the Group's financial performance;

•	 review the material internal control procedures, comprising financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology controls and ensure co-ordination between the external auditors and the Management, and review the 
assistance given by the Management to the auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from audits, 
and any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the Management, where necessary);

•	 approve the Group's internal audit plans;
•	 monitor the implication of outstanding internal control weaknesses highlighted by the internal and external auditors;
•	 review interested person transactions (if any) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (including 

any entrusted loans that may be provided to interested persons prior to such loans being entered into to ensure that 
(i) the terms and (ii) the grant of the entrusted loans (taking into account various factors that may include but are not 
limited to the rationale for the grant, the creditworthiness of the borrower and the interest rate payable to the Group) 
are not prejudicial to the Group and the Shareholders);

•	 review potential conflicts of interest, if any;
•	 review and consider transactions in which there may be potential conflicts of interests between the Group and the 

interested persons and recommend whether those who are in a position of conflict should abstain from participating 
in any discussions or deliberations of the Board or voting on resolutions of the Board or the Shareholders in relation 
to such transactions as well as to ensure that proper measures to mitigate such conflicts of interest have been put  
in place;

•	 review key financial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversight on the Group's financial reporting, 
the outcome of such review will be disclosed in the annual reports or if there are material findings, to be immediately 
announced via SGXNET;

•	 review and recommend hedging policies and instruments, if any, to be implemented by the Company to the Directors;
•	 review the suitability of the Chief Financial Officer;
•	 review the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit function, if applicable;
•	 undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board, and report to the Board its finding from 

time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the Audit Committee; and
•	 undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, or by such amendments 

as may be made thereto from time to time on a quarterly basis.

Apart from the abovementioned duties, the Audit Committee shall commission and review the findings of internal 
investigations in the event of suspected fraud, irregularity, failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore 
law, rule or regulation which has or is likely to have a material adverse impact on the Group's operating results and/or 
financial position.

The Audit Committee has full access to and the cooperation from the Management, along with the full discretion to invite 
any Director or Key Executive Officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function 
properly. The Board considers Mr. Joel Leong Kum Hoe, well qualified to chair the Audit Committee. The Key Executive 
Officers of the Company attend meetings of the Audit Committee on invitation.

The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing policy and the Audit Committee has the authority to conduct independent 
investigations into any complaints. The Audit Committee oversees the administration of whistle-blowing policy. Periodic 
reports will be submitted to the Audit Committee stating the number of and details of complaints received, the results 
of the investigations and follow-up actions. There were no reported incidents under the whistle-blowing policy for the 
financial year under review.

CorporATE GOVERNANCE REPORTBRC ANNUAL REPORT 2019
30



CorporATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

As at to-date, no reports of fraudulent or inappropriate activities or malpractices have been received.

No former Partner or Director of the Company's existing auditing firm or auditing corporation has acted as a member of 
the Company's Audit Committee: (a) within a period of 2 years commencing on the date of his/her ceasing to be a Partner 
of the auditing firm or Director of the auditing corporation; and in any case (b) for as long as he/she has any financial 
interest in the auditing firm or auditing corporation.

During the year, the Audit Committee has met with the external auditor and internal auditor without the presence of  
Management. The Audit Committee has also reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to ensure 
that the provision of these services did not affect the independence of auditors. The amount of fees paid to the auditors in 
respect of the audit and non-audit services for the year under review can be found on page 69 of the Annual Report. The 
Audit Committee has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditor and is satisfied that the nature and 
extent of such services would not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditor and accordingly, has 
recommended the re-appointment of the external auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Audit Committee is kept abreast of changes to the accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on the 
financial statements by the external auditor.

In appointing the audit firm for the Group, the Audit Committee takes into account several factors such as the adequacy of 
resources and experience of the auditing firm, the audit engagement partner assigned to the audit, the firm's other audit 
engagements, the size and complexity of the Group being audited as well as the number and experience of supervisory 
and professional staff assigned to the audit. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the Company has complied with the 
Listing Rules 712 and 715. The Board and Audit Committee have reviewed and confirmed the suitability of the appointment 
of different auditors for the Group's certain insignificant associated companies incorporated in Singapore and are satisfied 
that the said appointment would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Group.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBLITIES

Principle 11: Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings 

The Company treats all Shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise Shareholders' rights 
and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the Company. The Company gives its 
Shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects. 

Principle 12: Engagement with Shareholders

The Company communicates regularly with its Shareholders and facilitates the participation of Shareholders 
during general meetings and other dialogues to allow Shareholders to communicate their views on various matters 
affecting the Company. 

Principle 13: Engagement with Stakeholders

The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of material 
Stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the Company are served. 

The Company is mindful of its obligation to ensure a timely and adequate disclosure of information on matters of material 
impact on the Company to its Shareholders, in compliance with the requirements set out in the SGX-ST Listing Manual. 
All announcements, annual reports and sustainability reports are released via SGX-ST and published at the Company's 
website: www.brc.com.sg.

In presenting the annual financial statements and announcements of financial results to Shareholders, the Board has a 
responsibility to present a fair assessment of the Group's financial performance and position including the prospects of 
the Group. The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide timely and fair disclosure of material information and price 
sensitive information. The Management is accountable to the Board while Board is accountable to the Shareholders.

The Company encourages Shareholders' participation at the Company's annual general meetings. The annual general 
meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with Shareholders. There is an open question and answer session at which 
Shareholders may raise questions or share their views regarding the proposed resolutions as well as the Company's 
businesses and affairs. The Company has engaged Sino-Lion Communications Pte Ltd as its investor relations consultant 
to facilitate effective and efficient communications with its Shareholders. 

CorporATE GOVERNANCE REPORTBUILDING BETTER
31



CorporATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

The Company ensures that sufficient explanations of all resolutions are included in the notice of the annual general meeting. 
At the annual general meeting, the Company makes available the Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the respective 
Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees as well as the Company's auditor and other advisors to provide answers 
to Shareholders' queries. Key Executive Officers of the Group are also present to address any queries which Shareholders 
may have. All Directors, Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and external auditor were present at the last annual 
general meeting held on 30 January 2019.

Attendance by proxies is allowed as stipulated in the Constitution and Act. The Company's Constitution allows a member 
of the Company who is not a relevant intermediary to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at 
general meetings. A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak 
and vote at the general meetings provided that each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to the 
shares held by such member. The Board believes that it would not promote greater efficiency or effective decision making 
nor would it be cost effective to lift the limit on the number of proxies for a member who is not a relevant intermediary. 
The Board does not implement absentia-voting methods by mail, e-mail or fax, until issues on security and integrity are 
satisfactorily resolved. All Shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings. 
Separate resolutions on each distinct issue are tabled at general meetings. "Bundling" of resolutions are kept to a minimum 
and executed only where the resolutions are interdependent as to form one significant proposal and only where there are 
reasons and material implications involved.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 January 2019, the Company put all resolutions tabled to vote 
by poll. The voting results of all votes cast in respect of each resolution and the respective percentages were displayed at 
the meeting and announced in a timely manner via SGXNET after the meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting (if any) are properly recorded, including 
all comments or queries raised by Shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting and responses from the Board and 
Management. AII minutes of general meetings are available to Shareholders upon their request.

The Company welcomes feedback from Stakeholders with regards to the Company's sustainability efforts. The Stakeholders 
may send feedback to the Company at: info@brc.com.sg. 

Dividends

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that aims to provide Shareholders of the Company with a target annual 
dividend payout of not less than 30% of net profit attributable to Shareholders, excluding non-recurring, one-off and 
exceptional items, for the financial years ended 30 September 2019 ("FY2019") and 30 September 2020 ("FY2020"). For 
more details with regards to the dividend policy for FY2019 and FY2020, please refer to the announcement released by 
the Company on 13 May 2019. 

The dividend policy is subject to the Board's continuing determination that the policy shall be in the best interest of the 
Group and its Shareholders, and are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually 
review the dividend policy and reserves the rights in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or 
cancel the dividend policy at any time.

Investors should note that the foregoing statement of the Company's dividend policy is a statement of the Board's present 
intention and does not constitute a legal binding obligation of the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time 
to time. 

Corporate Social Responsibility

Apart from creating long term value for its Stakeholders and upholding high standards of governance, the Company 
recognises the importance of environmental sustainability and social responsibilities.

The Company has in place proper procedures for recycling and disposal of steel scrap. In addition, the Company has been 
involved in giving to the less fortunate communities by way of donations.

The Company will publish its standalone sustainability report for the financial year under review within the prescribed 
timeline and the same will be uploaded on the Company's website and SGXNET.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has set out the procedures for review and approval of the Group's interested person transactions. All interested 
person transactions entered into by the Group is submitted to the Audit Committee for review on a quarterly basis. 
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Disclosure according to Rule 907 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in respect of interested person transactions for the financial 
year ended 30 September 2019 is stated in the table below: 

Name of interested person and nature of 
transaction

Aggregate value of all interested person 
transactions during the financial year 
under review (excluding transactions 
less than S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under shareholders' mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920) (S$'000)

Aggregate value of all 
interested person transactions 
conducted under shareholders' 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 
(excluding transactions less 
than S$100,000) (S$'000)

Esteel Enterprise Pte. Ltd.
-	 Loan facility interest 1,523 Nil
Shanghai Emetal Hong Energy Co., Ltd.
-	 Steel hedging contractual price 

differential
•	 payable to 4,075 Nil
•	 receivable from 1,177 Nil

-	 Sales commission income 156 Nil

The Company does not have a general mandate from Shareholders for interested person transactions pursuant to  
Rule 920 of the SGX- ST Listing Manual.

It has set out the procedures for review and approval of the Group's interested person transactions.

Risk Management

The Board acknowledges that risks are inherent in business and views the taking of risks as a prelude to generating 
returns. However, the Board's policy is that risks should be managed in order to reduce the variability of returns. The Board 
regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well 
as take appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.

The primary responsibility for identifying business risks lies with Management, who then tables and recommends 
processes to the Board for their deliberation and for formulating policies to deal with the risks. The Board approves the 
recommended processes for managing risks which may include but not limited to optimisation, hedging, reduction of 
exposure or limiting possible losses through controls.

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Group involving the interests of any Director or controlling shareholders subsisting 
at the end of the financial year ended 30 September 2019 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the previous  
financial year.

Utilisation of Proceeds

There have been no proceeds raised in the financial year under review and no outstanding proceeds from previous  
fund raising. 

Dealing in the Company's Securities

The Group's internal code on dealing in Company's securities is in place and there has not been any incidence of non-
compliance. The Company has informed its Directors and Officers not to deal in the Company's shares whilst they are in 
possession of unpublished material and price-sensitive information and during the period commencing two weeks before 
the announcement of the Company's financial results for each of the first three quarters of its financial year and one month 
before the announcement of the Company's full year financial statements. The Directors and Officers of the Company are 
also advised not to deal in the Company's securities on short-term considerations.

The Directors and Officers are also advised to observe insider trading provisions under the Securities and Futures Act 
(Chapter 289) at all times even when dealing in the Company's securities within the permitted periods. Directors of the 
Company are required to report all dealings to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary ensures that all disclosure 
announcements are released to SGX-ST within the prescribed timeline.

In view of the processes in place, in the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing 
Manual issued by SGX-ST on dealing in securities. 
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Directors' Statement

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of BRC Asia Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") and the balance sheet and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2019.

Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors, 

(i)	 the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity 
of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 30 September 2019 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group 
and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)	 at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Teo Ser Luck
Seah Kiin Peng
Xu Jiguo
Zhang Xingwang 
Darrell Lim Chee Lek	 (appointed on 14 February 2019)
Joel Leong Kum Hoe 
He Jun 
Chang Pui Yook 

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors' interests in shares and debentures

No director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options, warrants or debentures 
of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment if later, at 
the end of the financial year and 21 October 2019. 

Share options

(a)	 Options to take up unissued shares 

During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 
was granted. 

(b)	 Options exercised 

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of 
the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares. 

(c)	 Unissued shares under options 

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 
under options.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50. The functions 
performed are detailed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditor.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Seah Kiin Peng 
Director

Xu Jiguo
Director

Singapore
9 January 2020 
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Independent auditor's report

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BRC Asia Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
"Group"), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 30 September 2019, the statements 
of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the balance sheet and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 
50 (the "Act") and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)) so as to give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 September 2019 and 
of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and 
changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing ("SSAs"). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority ("ACRA") 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code") together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of 
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit 
opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivable balances are significant to the Group as they represent 35% of the Group's current assets and trade 
receivables carried at amortised cost are subject to expected credit loss assessment at year end. The expected credit loss 
assessment requires significant management estimation over the correlation between historical observed default rates 
and forecast economic conditions. Consequently, we determined that this is a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the Group's processes and controls for monitoring and 
identifying trade receivables with collection risks. We reviewed management's assessment on the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 
Financial Instruments. In particular, we tested the inputs used by management in computing the historical loss rate and 
evaluated the basis used for the forward-looking adjustment in determining the expected credit loss rate. We also checked 
the mathematical accuracy of the expected credit loss allowance and assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures 
on the trade receivables and the related risks such as credit risk and liquidity risk in Notes 35(a) and 35(b) to the financial 
statements.

Provision for onerous contracts

As at 30 September 2019, the Group recognised provisions for onerous contracts amounting to $7.2 million. The process 
of estimating provision for onerous contracts requires management's judgement on the estimated unavoidable costs of 
meeting its contractual obligations based on the inventory on hand, plus estimated costs of inventory purchases and 
conversion costs required. Consequently, we determined that this is a key audit matter. 

For the financial year ended 30 September 2019
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Key audit matters (cont'd) 

Provision for onerous contracts (cont'd)

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the Group's process for identifying onerous contracts. We tested 
the completeness of this identification against open sales orders and current year sales as well as through analysis of the 
underlying contracts in place. In particular, we evaluated management's assessment for the unavoidable costs in meeting 
the obligations under these contracts. We also checked the mathematical accuracy of management's computation of the 
provision for onerous contracts and assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures on provision for onerous contracts 
in Note 26 of the financial statements.

Impairment of investment in subsidiary

As at 30 September 2019, the Company's investment in subsidiaries amounted to $229.4 million. Based on management's 
assessment, indicators of impairment were noted in the cost of investment for a subsidiary. Management prepared a 
discounted cash flow analysis to determine the recoverable amount of the subsidiary using a value in use ("VIU") model 
and concluded that no impairment was required as at 30 September 2019 as the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying 
amount. This resulted in a reversal of impairment loss of $3.8 million that had been previously provided for. 

The VIU calculation was determined based on a number of significant assumptions such as forecasted revenue, profit 
margin, terminal growth rate and discount rate. These estimates require significant management judgement. As such, we 
determined that this is a key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, assessing the reasonableness of management's assumptions applied in 
the VIU calculation based on our knowledge of the subsidiary's operations and past performance. In addition, we reviewed 
management's analysis of sensitivity of the recoverable amount to significant changes in the respective key assumptions. 
We have also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in Note 14 to the financial statements. 

Other information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient 
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors' responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always 
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont'd)

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

�	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

�	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group's internal control.

�	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

�	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

�	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

�	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Ho Shyan Yan.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore
9 January 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  

Note 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Revenue 4 913,287 567,009
Cost of sales (836,717) (521,938)

Gross profit 76,570 45,071

Other income 5 2,842 2,482

Expenses
Distribution expenses (5,934) (5,129)
Administrative expenses (12,967) (13,346)
Finance costs 6 (9,575) (5,202)
Other operating expenses (9,114) (4,857)
Impairment loss on trade receivables 19 (2,538) (2,541)
Share of results of joint venture 15 1,282 777
Share of results of associates 16 (2,131) (1,605)

Profit before tax from continuing operations 7 38,435 15,650

Income tax expense 9 (6,873) (3,607)

Profit from continuing operations, net of tax 31,562 12,043

Discontinued operation
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 10 − (863)
Profit, net of tax 10 − 1,116

Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax − 253

Profit for the year 31,562 12,296

Other comprehensive income: 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (25) −

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Net fair value loss on available-for-sale financial assets − (5)
Net exchange gain on net investment in foreign operations 250 398
Foreign currency translation:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (161) 288
Reclassifications − (67)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 64 614

Total comprehensive income for the year 31,626 12,910

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Profit from continuing operations, net of tax 31,562 12,043
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax − (293)

31,562 11,750

Non-controlling interest
Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax − 546

− 546

31,562 12,296

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to: 

Owners of the Company 31,626 12,291
Non-controlling interests − 619

31,626 12,910

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to  
owners of the Company:

Profit from continuing operations, net of tax 31,626 12,582
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax − (291)

31,626 12,291

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 11 13.53 5.57

Basic earnings per share (cents) 11 13.53 5.43

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance sheets  

Group Company
Note 30.9.2019 30.9.2018 1.10.2017 30.9.2019 30.9.2018 1.10.2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 134,110 148,978 89,136 52,793 60,042 65,942
Investment properties 13 2,402 2,471 − − − −
Investment in subsidiaries 14 − − − 229,359 225,559 26,371
Interest in joint venture 15 7,220 12,116 11,650 6,076 6,076 6,076
Interest in associates 16 18,951 11,477 6,714 24,200 13,505 8,807
Investment securities 17 84 109 1,614 84 109 1,614
Loan to investee company 19 − − 1,500 − − 1,500

162,767 175,151 110,614 312,512 305,291 110,310

Current assets

Inventories 18 231,891 270,249 111,433 127,132 158,032 103,376
Trade and other receivables 19 195,315 180,725 75,516 126,798 88,271 85,487
Prepayments 7,902 4,526 1,022 7,397 4,025 259
Deposits 228 300 255 133 131 235
Derivatives 21 656 − − 505 − −
Asset held for sale 20 30,049 26,711 − − − −
Cash and cash equivalents 22 65,778 41,080 23,989 24,656 15,591 19,673

531,819 523,591 212,215 286,621 266,050 209,030

Total assets 694,586 698,742 322,829 599,133 571,341 319,340

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 67,164 58,210 69,049 58,576 61,379 61,031
Contract liabilities 4(c) 4,023 3,178 443 534 2,449 161
Loans and borrowings 24 245,839 255,838 52,376 134,190 140,691 52,376
Loan from immediate  

holding company 25 23,100 − − 23,100 − −
Provisions 26 8,668 20,066 11,667 5,092 4,998 11,438
Derivatives 21 − 325 344 − 239 344
Current income tax liabilities 9,064 5,115 2,808 5,292 2,665 2,808

357,858 342,732 136,687 226,784 212,421 128,158

Net current assets 173,961 180,859 75,528 59,837 53,629 80,872

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 26 1,003 993 408 254 244 408
Loans and borrowings 24 60,658 82,265 10,772 60,113 79,948 10,772
Deferred tax liabilities 27 12,139 12,616 6,785 6,358 7,258 6,785
Loan from immediate  

holding company 25 − 23,100 − − 23,100 −

73,800 118,974 17,965 66,725 110,550 17,965

Total liabilities 431,658 461,706 154,652 293,509 322,971 146,123

Net assets 262,928 237,036 168,177 305,624 248,370 173,217

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Balance sheets BRC ANNUAL REPORT 2019
42

As at 30 September 2019



Balance sheets 
As at 30 September 2019

Group Company
Note 30.9.2019 30.9.2018 1.10.2017 30.9.2019 30.9.2018 1.10.2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Share capital 28 125,001 125,001 68,011 125,001 125,001 68,011
Treasury shares 28 (1,105) (1,105) (1,105) (1,105) (1,105) (1,105)
Other reserves 29 (2,154) (2,218) (1,879) 521 546 1,436
Retained earnings 141,186 115,358 102,728 181,207 123,928 104,875

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company 262,928 237,036 167,755 305,624 248,370 173,217

Non-controlling interests − − 422 − − −

Total equity 262,928 237,036 168,177 305,624 248,370 173,217

Total equity and liabilities 694,586 698,742 322,829 599,133 571,341 319,340

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of changes in equity  
For the financial year ended 30 September 2019

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Attributable to owners of the Company

Note
Share

capital
Treasury

shares
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total

equity
Group $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 October 2017 68,011 (1,105) (1,879) 102,728 167,755 422 168,177

Profit for the year – – – 11,750 11,750 546 12,296

Other comprehensive income for 
the year – – 541 – 541 73 614

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – 541 11,750 12,291 619 12,910

Conversion of bonds 24 10,000 – – – 10,000 – 10,000

Issuance of shares 28 46,990 – – – 46,990 – 46,990

Capital contribution from  
non-controlling interest – – – – – 840 840

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners 56,990 – – – 56,990 840 57,830

Acquisition of non-controlling 
interests without a change 
in control – – 5 (5) – (9) (9)

Disposal of a subsidiary – – – – – (1,872) (1,872)

Total changes in ownership 
interests in subsidiaries – – 5 (5) – (1,881) (1,881)

Total transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners 56,990 – 5 (5) 56,990 (1,041) 55,949

Employee share options 
cancelled – – (885) 885 – – –

Balance at 30 September 2018 
and 1 October 2018 125,001 (1,105) (2,218) 115,358 237,036 – 237,036

Effect of the adoption of SFRS(I) 2.2 – – – (3,401) (3,401) – (3,401)

Balance at 1 October 2018 – 
SFRS(I) framework 125,001 (1,105) (2,218) 111,957 233,635 – 233,635

Profit for the year – – – 31,562 31,562 – 31,562
Other comprehensive income for 

the year – – 64 – 64 – 64

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – 64 31,562 31,626 – 31,626

Cash dividends on ordinary 
shares 30 – – – (2,333) (2,333) – (2,333)

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners – – – (2,333) (2,333) – (2,333)

Balance at 30 September 2019 125,001 (1,105) (2,154) 141,186 262,928 – 262,928

Statements of changes in equity BRC ANNUAL REPORT 2019
44



Statements of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 30 September 2019

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Note
Share

capital
Treasury 

shares
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Company

Balance at 1 October 2017 68,011 (1,105) 1,436 104,875 173,217

Profit for the year – – – 18,168 18,168
Other comprehensive income for  

the year – – (5) – (5)

Total comprehensive income for  
the year – – (5) 18,168 18,163

Conversion of bonds 24 10,000 – – – 10,000
Issuance of shares 28 46,990 – – – 46,990

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners 56,990 – – – 56,990

Employee share options cancelled – – (885) 885 –

Balance at 30 September 2018  
and 1 October 2018 125,001 (1,105) 546 123,928 248,370

Effect of the adoption of SFRS(I) 2.2 – – – (1,455) (1,455)

Balance at 1 October 2018 –  
SFRS(I) framework 125,001 (1,105) 546 122,473 246,915

Profit for the year – – – 61,067 61,067
Other comprehensive income for  

the year – – (25) – (25)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – (25) 61,067 61,042

Cash dividends on ordinary shares 30 – – – (2,333) (2,333)

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners – – – (2,333) (2,333)

Balance at 30 September 2019 125,001 (1,105) 521 181,207 305,624
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Consolidated cash flow statement  
For the financial year ended 30 September 2019

Note 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations 38,435 15,650
Profit before tax from discontinued operation – 270

38,435 15,920
Adjustments for:
Share of results of joint venture 15 (1,282) (777)
Share of results of associates 16 2,131 1,605
Amortisation of club memberships − 12
Depreciation of investment properties 13 69 23
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 15,938 10,829
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 7 304 4
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 12 1,816 −
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 18 567 578
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net 19 2,538 2,541
Fair value changes on trade receivables subjected to provisional pricing 7 1,349 −
Fair value changes on derivatives, net 21 (981) 380
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 280 (22)
Gain on disposal of club memberships − (455)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary written off 14 − 55
Loss on disposal of investment in a subsidiary 10 − 863
Bad debts recovered (40) −
Bad debts written off − 14
Reversal of provision for onerous contracts 7 (12,849) (11,983)
Provision for retirement benefits 8 10 22
Provision for restoration costs 1,452 −
Unrealised exchange differences 106 (869)
Interest expense 9,575 5,202
Interest income 5 (1,040) (1,153)
Dividend income from investment securities 5 (2) (5)

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 58,376 22,784
Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables (15,710) (4,777)
Inventories 37,791 (42,614)
Prepayments and deposits (3,304) (2,646)
Development costs for asset held for sale (3,338) (211)
Trade and other payables and contract liabilities 8,182 19,808

Cash flows generated from/(used in) operations 81,997 (7,656)
Income taxes paid (2,704) (3,075)
Retirement benefits paid 26 − (186)

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities 79,293 (10,917)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
For the financial year ended 30 September 2019

Note 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (2,298) (26,865)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests − (9)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 160 586
Proceeds from disposal of club memberships − 810
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary 10 − 936
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest of a subsidiary − 840
Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries 14 − (142,334)
Proceeds from disposal of investment securities − 1,500
Proceeds from repayment of loan from investee company − 1,500
Interest received 198 694
Dividend income from investment securities 2 5
Dividend income from an associate 16 1,050 –
Long term loan to an associate company (10,425) (4,632)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (11,313) (166,969)

Financing activities
Repayment of finance lease obligations 24 (3,093) (2,504)
(Repayment of)/proceeds from bills payable, net 24 (15,057) 52,552
Proceeds from bank loans 67,290 129,311
Repayment of bank loans (80,746) (50,000)
Proceeds from issuance of shares 28 − 46,990
Proceeds from loan from immediate holding company, net − 23,100
Dividends paid on ordinary shares 30 (2,333) –
Interest paid (9,410) (4,490)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities (43,349) 194,959

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,631 17,073
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 41,080 23,989
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 67 18

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 22 65,778 41,080

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.	 Corporate information

BRC Asia Limited (the "Company") is a public limited liability company incorporated in Singapore and is listed 
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST"). The immediate holding company is Esteel 
Enterprise Pte. Ltd. ("Esteel"), a private limited company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. Its ultimate 
holding company is Advance Venture Investments Limited ("AVIL"). AVIL is incorporated and domiciled in the 
British Virgin Islands.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is at 350 Jalan Boon Lay, Jurong Industrial 
Estate, Singapore 619530.

The principal activities of the Company are the prefabrication of steel reinforcement for use in concrete, trading of 
steel reinforcing bars, and manufacturing and sale of wire mesh fences. The principal activities of the subsidiaries 
are disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements.

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) 
("SFRS(I)").

For all periods up to and including the year ended 30 September 2018, the Group prepared its financial statements 
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore ("FRS"). These financial statements for the year 
ended 30 September 2019 are the first the Group has prepared in accordance with SFRS(I). Refer to Note 2.2 for 
information on how the Group adopted SFRS(I).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $) and all values in the tables are rounded to 
the nearest thousand ($'000), except when otherwise indicated.

2.2	 First-time adoption of SFRS(I)

These financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2019 are the first the Group and the Company have 
prepared in accordance with SFRS(I). Accordingly, the Group and the Company have prepared financial statements 
that comply with SFRS(I) applicable as at 30 September 2019, together with the comparative period data for the 
year ended 30 September 2018, as described in the summary of significant accounting policies. On preparing the 
financial statements, the Group's and the Company's opening balance sheets were prepared as at 1 October 2017, 
the Group's and the Company's date of transition to SFRS(I).

The principal adjustments made by the Group on adoption of SFRS(I) and the adoption of the new standards that 
are effective on 1 October 2018 are disclosed below.

Exemptions applied on adoption of SFRS(I)

SFRS(I) allows first-time adopters exemptions from the retrospective application of certain requirements under 
SFRS(I). The Group has applied the exemption whereby the comparative information do not comply with SFRS(I) 
9 Financial Instruments or SFRS(I) 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to the extent the disclosures relate to items 
within the scope of SFRS(I) 9.

New accounting standards effective on 1 October 2018

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those previously applied under FRS except that in the current 
financial year, the Group has adopted all the SFRS(I) which are effective for annual financial periods beginning on 
or after 1 October 2018. Except for the impact arising from the exemptions applied as described above and the 
adoption of SFRS(I) 9 and SFRS(I) 15 described below, the adoption of these standards did not have any material 
effect on the financial performance or position of the Group and the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2	 First-time adoption of SFRS(I) (cont'd)

New accounting standards effective on 1 October 2018 (cont'd)

SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments

On 1 October 2018, the Group adopted SFRS(I) 9, a which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 October 2018. 

The changes arising from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 have been applied retrospectively. The Group has elected to 
apply the exemption in SFRS(I) 1 and has not restated comparative information in the year of initial application. 
The impact arising from SFRS(I) 9 adoption was included in the opening retained earnings at the date of initial 
application, 1 October 2018. The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the requirements  
of FRS 39.

(a)	 Classification and measurement

SFRS(I) 9 requires debt instruments to be measured either at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"). Classification of debt 
instruments depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and whether the 
contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI"). An entity's business 
model is how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows and create value for the 
entity either from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. If a debt instrument is 
held to collect contractual cash flows, it is measured at amortised cost if it also meets the SPPI requirement. 
Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that are held both to collect the assets' contractual cash 
flows and to sell the assets are measured at FVOCI. Financial assets are measured at FVPL if they do not 
meet the criteria of FVOCI or amortised cost.

Debt instruments

The Group intends to hold its financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, and accordingly measured 
them at amortised cost when it applies SFRS(I) 9. The adoption did not have a significant impact to the 
Group apart from the change in classification and measurement of balances relating to provisionally priced 
trade receivables.

Under SFRS(I) 9, trade receivables that are subjected to provisional pricing will fail the SPPI test as it 
is exposed to future price movements. Therefore, the entire receivable is now required to be measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, with subsequent changes in fair value recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income. This resulted in a change of classification from amortised cost to FVPL on  
1 October 2018. As a result, there is a decrease in carrying value of $1,582,000 and $749,000 due to fair 
value adjustment for the Group and Company respectively, with a corresponding decrease in retained 
earnings as at 1 October 2018.

Equity instruments

SFRS(I) 9 requires all equity instruments to be carried at fair value through profit or loss, unless an entity 
chooses on initial recognition, to present fair value changes in other comprehensive income.

For equity securities, the Group has elected to measure its available-for-sale ("AFS") quoted equity 
securities at FVOCI. There is no impact upon adoption as at 1 October 2018. 

(b)	 Impairment

SFRS(I) 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all its financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or FVOCI and financial guarantees. The Group previously recorded impairment based on 
the incurred loss model when there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

Upon adoption of SFRS(I) 9, the Group recognised additional impairment on the Group's trade receivables 
carried at amortised cost of $4,606,000. The additional impairment loss recognised arising from adoption 
of SFRS(I) 9 resulted in a decrease in retained earnings of $2,516,000 and a recognition of reimbursement 
asset of $2,090,000 as at 1 October 2018.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2	 First-time adoption of SFRS(I) (cont'd)

SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments (cont'd)

(b)	 Impairment (cont'd)

The Company recognised an additional impairment on the Company's trade receivables carried at amortised 
cost of $1,004,000 with a corresponding decrease in retained earnings as at 1 October 2018.

The reconciliation for loss allowance for the Group and Company are as follow:

Group Company
Trade receivables $'000 $'000

Opening loss allowance as at 1 October 2018 2,790 466
Amount restated through retained earnings 4,606 1,004
Amount classified to trade receivables carried at FVPL (23) –

Adjusted loss allowance as at 1 October 2018 7,373 1,470

(c)	 Tax adjustments and other adjustments

The corresponding tax impact to the Group arising from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 resulted in a decrease in 
deferred tax liabilities of $697,000 and a corresponding increase in retained earnings. 

The corresponding tax impact to the Company arising from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 resulted in a decrease 
in deferred tax liabilities of $298,000 and a corresponding increase in retained earnings.

SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group adopted SFRS(I) 15 which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2018.

The Group is in the business of sales of the prefabrication of steel reinforcement for use in concrete, trading of 
steel reinforcing bars, and manufacturing and sale of wire mesh fences. The key impact of adopting SFRS(I) 15 is 
summarised is detailed as follows:

Variable consideration

For the sale of prefabrication of steel reinforcement, some contracts with customers provide prompt payment 
discount, as well as sales discounts. In addition, the Group enters into contracts which incorporate price fluctuation 
clause which allow for price adjustment based on changes in steel reinforcement prices for the stipulated delivery 
month.

Such provisions give rise to variable consideration under SFRS(I) 15. The Group previously recognised revenue from 
the sale of goods measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of these discounts and 
price adjustments. 

The Group applied the "most likely amount method" in estimating the variable consideration to which it will be 
entitled and there has been no significant impact upon adoption of SFRS(I) 15. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2	 First-time adoption of SFRS(I) (cont'd)

The following is the reconciliation of the impact arising from first-time adoption of SFRS(I) including application of 
the new accounting standards on 30 September 2018 and 1 October 2018 to the balance sheet of the Group. The 
adoption of SFRS(I) does not have any impact to the balance sheet of the Group as at 1 October 2017.

30.9.2018
(FRS)

SFRS(I) 9 
adjustments

1.10.2018
(SFRS(I))

Group $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 148,978 – 148,978
Investment properties 2,471 – 2,471
Interest in joint venture 12,116 – 12,116
Interest in associates 11,477 – 11,477
Investment securities 109 – 109

175,151 – 175,151

Current assets

Inventories 270,249 – 270,249
Trade and other receivables 180,725 (4,098) 176,627
Prepayments 4,526 – 4,526
Deposits 300 – 300
Asset held for sale 26,711 – 26,711
Cash and cash equivalents 41,080 – 41,080

523,591 (4,098) 519,493

Total assets 698,742 (4,098) 694,644

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 58,210 – 58,210
Contract liabilities 3,178 – 3,178
Loans and borrowings 255,838 – 255,838
Provisions 20,066 – 20,066
Derivatives 325 – 325
Current income tax liabilities 5,115 – 5,115

342,732 – 342,732

Net current assets 180,859 (4,098) 176,761

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 993 – 993
Loans and borrowings 82,265 – 82,265
Deferred tax liabilities 12,616 (697) 11,919
Loan from immediate holding company 23,100 – 23,100

118,974 (697) 118,277

Total liabilities 461,706 (697) 461,009

Net assets 237,036 (3,401) 233,635

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 125,001 – 125,001
Treasury shares (1,105) – (1,105)
Other reserves (2,218) – (2,218)
Retained earnings 115,358 (3,401) 111,957

Total equity 237,036 (3,401) 233,635
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2	 First-time adoption of SFRS(I) (cont'd)

The following is the reconciliation of the impact arising from first-time adoption of SFRS(I) including application of 
the new accounting standards on 30 September 2018 and 1 October 2018 to the balance sheet of the Company. The 
adoption of SFRS(I) does not have any impact to the balance sheet of the Company as at 1 October 2017.

30.9.2018
(FRS)

SFRS(I) 9
adjustments

1.10.2018
(SFRS(I))

Company $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 60,042 – 60,042
Investment in subsidiaries 225,559 – 225,559
Interest in joint venture 6,076 – 6,076
Interest in associates 13,505 – 13,505
Investment securities 109 – 109

305,291 – 305,291

Current assets

Inventories 158,032 – 158,032
Trade and other receivables 88,271 (1,753) 86,518
Prepayments 4,025 – 4,025
Deposits 131 – 131
Cash and cash equivalents 15,591 – 15,591

266,050 (1,753) 264,297

Total assets 571,341 (1,753) 569,588

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 61,379 – 61,379
Contract liabilities 2,449 – 2,449
Loans and borrowings 140,691 – 140,691
Provisions 4,998 – 4,998
Derivatives 239 – 239
Current income tax liabilities 2,665 – 2,665

212,421 – 212,421

Net current assets 53,629 (1,753) 51,876

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 244 – 244
Loans and borrowings 79,948 – 79,948
Deferred tax liabilities 7,258 (298) 6,960
Loan from immediate holding company 23,100 – 23,100

110,550 (298) 110,252

Total liabilities 322,971 (298) 322,673

Net assets 248,370 (1,455) 246,915

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 125,001 – 125,001
Treasury shares (1,105) – (1,105)
Other reserves 546 – 546
Retained earnings 123,928 (1,455) 122,473

Total equity 248,370 (1,455) 246,915
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards applicable to the Group that have been issued but not  
yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after

SFRS(I) 16 Leases 1 January 2019

SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-28 Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019
Amendments to SFRS(I) 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2019
Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s 2015 – 2017 Cycle 1 January 2019
Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 & SFRS(I) 1-28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture To be determined

Except for SFRS(I) 16, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards above will have no material 
impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in 
accounting policy on adoption of SFRS(I) 16 are described below.

SFRS(I) 16 Leases

SFRS(I) 16 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees – leases of 'low value' assets and short-term leases. SFRS(I) 16 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. At commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make 
lease payments (i.e. the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the 
lease term (i.e. the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the 
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

The Group plans to adopt SFRS(I) 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as 
an adjustment to the opening retained earnings at the date of initial application, 1 October 2019.

On the adoption of SFRS(I) 16, the Group expects to choose, on a lease-by-lease basis, to measure the right-of-use 
asset at either:

(i)	 its carrying amount as if SFRS(I) 16 had been applied since the commencement date, but discounted using 
the lessee's incremental borrowing rate as of 1 October 2019; or

(ii)	 an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet immediately before 1 October 2019.

In addition, the Group plans to elect the following practical expedients: 

•	 not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial application and to apply 
SFRS(I) 16 to all contracts that were previously identified as leases;

•	 to apply the exemption not to recognise right-of-use asset and lease liabilities to leases for which the lease 
term ends within 12 months as of 1 October 2019; and 

•	 to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

The Group has performed a preliminary impact assessment based on currently available information, and the 
assessment may be subject to changes arising from ongoing analysis until the Group adopts SFRS(I) 16 on 
1 October 2019. 

On the adoption of SFRS(I) 16, the Group expects to recognise an equal amount of right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities of $32,887,000 for its leases previously classified as operating leases (excluding short-term leases). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company's. 
Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit 
balance.

(b)	 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred 
and the services are received. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to 
be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-controlling interest in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of net assets of the acquire are recognised on the acquisition date at either fair value, 
or the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the 
amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group's previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets and 
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is 
recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 
date, allocated to the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined 
for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating 
units) to which the goodwill relates. 

2.5	 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of 
the Company.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.6	 Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the Company's functional currency. Each 
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency.

(a)	 Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates 
approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
balance sheet date are recognised in the profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of the Group's net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The 
foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign 
operation.

(b)	 Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Singapore 
Dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of reporting period and the profit or loss are translated at the 
weighted average exchange rates for the financial year. The exchange differences arising on the translation 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other 
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

2.7	 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, all property, 
plant and equipment except for freehold land and a leasehold building are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The leasehold building was initially stated at cost and 
subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses recognised after the 
date of the revaluation.

The valuation of the leasehold building was carried out in 1993 based on the appraisals received from an independent 
firm of professional valuers and the revaluation surplus was taken to asset revaluation reserve. The Group does 
not have a policy of periodically revaluing its leasehold buildings as allowed under FRS 16 for one-off revaluation 
performed between 1 January 1984 and 31 December 1996.

Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the asset 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the 
asset revaluation reserve.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The revaluation surplus included in the 
asset revaluation reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal 
of the asset.

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.7	 Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Depreciation is computed on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold buildings – Over the lease term of between 11 to 36 years
Plant and machinery – 4 to 15 years
Motor vehicles – 7 years
Furniture and equipment – 3 to 5 years
Formwork – 10 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the 
year the asset is de-recognised.

2.8	 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are either owned by the Group or leased under a finance lease that is 
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purposes, or in the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs and subsequently carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amount over the estimated 
useful life as follows:

Leasehold property – Over lease term of 45 years
Freehold property – 30 years

The carrying value of investment properties are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major renovations 
and improvements is capitalised if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains 
or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss in the year of 
retirement or disposal.

2.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of 
the asset's recoverable amount.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont'd)

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or 
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously 
revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. 
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.10	 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee.

In the Company's separate balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.

2.11	 Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is 
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

A joint arrangement is classified either as joint operation or joint venture, based on the rights and obligations of 
the parties to the arrangement. 

To the extent the joint arrangement provides the Group with rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities 
relating to the arrangement, the arrangement is a joint operation. To the extent the joint arrangement provides the 
Group with rights to the net assets of the arrangement, the arrangement is a joint venture.

The Group recognises its interest in a joint venture as an investment and accounts for the investment using the 
equity method. The accounting policy for interest in joint venture is set out in Note 2.12.

2.12	 Joint venture and associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies.

The Group accounts for its interest in associates and joint venture using the equity method from the date on which 
it becomes an associate or joint venture.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair 
value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill and is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the investee's identifiable assets 
and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity's share of the 
associate or joint venture's profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.12	 Joint venture and associates (cont'd)

Under the equity method, the interest in associate or joint venture is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associate or joint venture. The profit or loss reflects 
the share of results of the operations of the associate or joint venture. Distributions received from associate or 
joint venture reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised in other 
comprehensive income by the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other 
comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and associate 
or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

When the Group's share of losses in an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or 
joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional 
impairment loss on the Group's interest in associates or joint venture. The Group determines at each balance sheet 
date whether there is any objective evidence that the interest in the associates or joint venture is impaired. If this is 
the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the 
associate or joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates and joint venture are prepared as at the same reporting date as the 
Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

In the Company's balance sheet, interests in joint venture and associates are stated at cost less impairment loss.

2.13	 Financial instruments

(a)	 Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instruments. 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf 
of third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition. 

Subsequent measurement

Investments in debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing 
the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The measurement categories for 
classification of debt instruments are:

(i)	 Amortised cost

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through 
the amortisation process.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.13	 Financial instruments (cont'd)

(a)	 Financial assets (cont'd)

Subsequent measurement (cont'd)

Investments in debt instruments (cont'd)

(ii)	 Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt instruments that is subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which it arises. 

Investments in equity instruments

On initial recognition of an investment in equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Group has 
irrevocably elected to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. Dividends from such investments are 
to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive payments is established. 

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair value of 
derivatives are recognised in profit or loss. 

De-recognition

A financial asset is de-recognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has 
expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received, and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

(b)	 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at 
initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and through the amortisation process.

De-recognition

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
has expired. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.14	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss and financial guarantees. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible 
within the next 12-months ("a 12-month ECL"). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default ("a lifetime ECL").

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not 
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in 
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information 
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account 
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.15	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value.

2.16	 Asset held for sale

Asset held for sale relates to property acquired and being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, 
rather than to be held for the Group's own use, rental or capital appreciation.

Asset held for sale is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value of asset held for sale is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, based on 
market prices at the reporting date and discounted for the time value of money if material, less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of asset held for sale recognised in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the specific 
costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs based on the relative size of the 
property sold.

2.17	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

-	 Raw materials: purchase costs on a weighted average basis.

-	 Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 
overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value 
of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.18	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision 
is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.19	 Financial guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms 
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are measured 
at the higher of the amount of expected credit loss determined in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.14 
and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised over the 
period of the guarantee. 

2.20	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress, and the expenditures and borrowing 
costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended 
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and 
other cost that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.21	 Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds are separated into liability and equity components based on the terms of the contract.

On issuance of the convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate 
for an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost 
(net of transaction costs) until it is extinguished on conversion or redemption in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in Note 2.13(b). 

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in shareholders' 
equity. Transaction costs are deducted from equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying amount of the 
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years. 

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based 
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are initially recognised.

No conversion option (equity component) was recognised by the Group and Company as the difference in the fair 
value of the liability component and the proceeds from the bonds was not significant.

2.22	 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with. Government grant shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended 
to compensate. Grants related to income are presented as a credit in profit or loss, under "Other income". 
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.23	 Employee benefits 

(a)	 Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which 
it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group makes contributions to the Central 
Provident Fund in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Similar defined contributions are 
made in accordance to other schemes in the jurisdiction that the Group operates in. Contributions to 
defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related 
service is performed.

(b)	 Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits are granted to employees who commenced employment with the Company prior to 
1 January 1983. The retirement benefits are calculated based on one (1) week's pay for each full year of 
service at the employee's last-drawn salary at date of retirement.

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. Defined 
benefit plans typically define the amount of benefit that an employee will receive on or after retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of a defined benefit plan is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using market yields of high quality government bonds that are denominated in the currency in 
which the benefits will be paid; and it has tenures approximating that of the related benefit obligations.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

-	 Service cost
-	 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
-	 Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognised as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognised when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined 
benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount 
rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest on the 
net defined benefit liability or asset is recognised as expense or income in profit or loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are recognised in retained earnings within equity 
and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

(c)	 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to the employees. 
The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
The net total of service costs, net interest on the liability and remeasurement of the liability are recognised 
in profit or loss.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.24	 Leases

As lessee

Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. 
Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis.

As lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. The 
accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.25(b).

2.25	 Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount 
allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

(a)	 Sale of goods

The Group supplies steel products to its customers. Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to 
the customer and all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. 

Some contracts with customers allow for price adjustments based on changes in steel reinforcement prices 
for the stipulated delivery month. These are referred to as provisional pricing arrangements. The period 
between provisional invoicing and the finalisation is up to two months. 

The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction price, which comprises the 
contractual price, net of estimated prompt payment discount and sales discount. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates its assessment of the estimated transaction price. The 
corresponding amounts are adjusted against revenue in the period in which the transaction price changes. 

(b)	 Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a 
reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(c)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group's right to receive payment is established.
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2.25	 Revenue (cont'd)

(d)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.26	 Taxes

(a)	 Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, 
in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b)	 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on taxable temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

–	 Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

–	 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests 
in joint ventures and associates, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised except: 

–	 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

–	 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures and associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.26	 Taxes (cont'd)

(b)	 Deferred tax (cont'd)

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity; and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition. 

(c)	 Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except: 

–	 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item as applicable; and

–	 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

2.27	 Share capital and share issuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.28	 Treasury shares

The Group's own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted 
from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's 
own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of treasury shares and the consideration 
received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the 
Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

2.29	 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a)	 a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group; or 

(b)	 a present obligation that arises from past events but not recognised because:

(i)	 it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation; or

(ii)	 the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably 
determined.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of asset or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgement which 
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of investment in subsidiary

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indicator that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indicator exists, the Company makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use ("VIU"), and 
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

As at 30 September 2019, based on the results of the subsidiaries, indicators of impairment were noted in the 
cost of investment for BRC Prefab Holdings Sdn Bhd. Management prepared a discounted cash flow analysis to 
determine the recoverable amount of the subsidiary using the VIU model, based on assumptions such as forecasted 
revenue, profit margin, terminal growth rate and discount rate. As the recoverable amount estimated exceeds the 
carrying amount, the Company reversed the impairment loss of $3,800,000 that had been previously made on its 
cost of investment in the subsidiary.

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each 
reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 
when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, 
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(a)	 Impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables carried at amortised cost. The 
provision rates are based on days past due for grouping of various customers that have similar loss patterns. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will 
calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every 
reporting date, historical default rates are updated and changes in forward-looking estimates are analysed. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of 
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast economic 
conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual default in the future. The information about 
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables carried at amortised cost is disclosed in Note 35(a). 

(b)	 Provision for onerous contracts

Provision for onerous contracts is recorded in respect of outstanding order books vis-à-vis inventory on 
hand and committed purchases whereby the costs to meet the obligations are expected to exceed the 
economic benefits to be received. Management assessed and estimated the unavoidable costs required to 
fulfil its contractual obligation based on the value of inventory on hand, plus estimated costs of inventory 
purchases and conversion costs required.

The carrying amount of the Group's provision for onerous contracts as at 30 September 2019 was $7,216,000 
(30 September 2018: $20,066,000; 1 October 2017: $11,667,000).
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